

City Research Online

City, University of London Institutional Repository

Citation: Yvon, C., Ramsden, C. M., Lane, A., Powner, M. B., Da Cruz, L., Coffey, P. J. & Carr, A-J. F. (2015). Using Stem Cells to Model Diseases of the Outer Retina. Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal, 13, pp. 382-389. doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2015.05.001

This is the published version of the paper.

This version of the publication may differ from the final published version.

Permanent repository link: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/15235/

Link to published version: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2015.05.001

Copyright: City Research Online aims to make research outputs of City, University of London available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the author(s) and/or copyright holders. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to.

Reuse: Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way. City Research Online: <u>http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/</u><u>publications@city.ac.uk</u>





ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY JOURNAL journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

COMPUTATIONAL



Mini Review Using Stem Cells to Model Diseases of the Outer Retina

Camille Yvon^a, Conor M. Ramsden^{a,b,*}, Amelia Lane^a, Michael B. Powner^a, Lyndon da Cruz^{a,b}, Peter J. Coffey^{a,c}, Amanda-Jayne F. Carr^a

10101010010

0101010101

^a The London Project to Cure Blindness, Division of ORBIT, Institute of Ophthalmology, University College London, 11-43 Bath Street, London EC1V 9EL, UK

^b NIHR Biomedical Research Centre at Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, UCL Institute of Ophthalmology, London, EC1V 2PD, UK

11010101001

^c Center for Stem Cell Biology and Engineering, NRI, UC, Santa Barbara, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 January 2015 Received in revised form 30 April 2015 Accepted 1 May 2015 Available online 6 May 2015

Keywords: Disease models Induced pluripotent stem cells Retinitis pigmentosa Age related macular degeneration Leber congenital amaurosis Inherited retinopathy

ABSTRACT

Retinal degeneration arises from the loss of photoreceptors or retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). It is one of the leading causes of irreversible blindness worldwide with limited effective treatment options. Generation of induced pluripotent stem cell (IPSC)-derived retinal cells and tissues from individuals with retinal degeneration is a rapidly evolving technology that holds a great potential for its use in disease modelling. IPSCs provide an ideal platform to investigate normal and pathological retinogenesis, but also deliver a valuable source of retinal cell types for drug screening and cell therapy. In this review, we will provide some examples of the ways in which IPSCs have been used to model diseases of the outer retina including retinitis pigmentosa (RP), Usher syndrome (USH), Leber congenital amaurosis (LCA), gyrate atrophy (GA), juvenile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (NCL), Best vitelliform macular dystrophy (BVMD) and age related macular degeneration (AMD).

© 2015 Yvon et al. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of the Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1. 2.	Introduction	382 383						
3.	Diseases Modeled	384						
	3.1. Retinitis Pigmentosa (RP)	384						
	3.2. Usher Syndrome (USH)	385						
	3.3. Leber Congenital Amaurosis (LCA)	385						
	3.4. Gyrate Atrophy (GA)	386						
	3.5. Juvenile Neuronal Ceroid Lipofuscinosis (NCL)	386						
	3.6. Best Vitelliform Macular Dystrophy (BVMD)	386						
	3.7. Age Related Macular Degeration (AMD)	386						
4.	Conclusion	387						
Funding								
Competing Interest Statement								
Refe	References							

1. Introduction

Retinal degeneration is one of the leading causes of irreversible blindness worldwide with limited effective treatment options. Retinal degeneration is the end point of many differing disease processes. In 2014, inherited retinopathies overtook diabetic related causes for blind registration in the working population in the UK [1] and in older individuals the major cause for sight loss is age related macular degeneration (AMD) [2] with over 40 million sufferers worldwide. The retina is located in the posterior chamber of the eye, lining its inner surface and comprises multiple layers of differing cell types. The majority of primary retinopathies affect the outer retina, which is primarily formed of the photoreceptors and its monolayer of support cells termed the retinal

Corresponding author.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2015.05.001

2001-0370/© 2015 Yvon et al. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of the Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

E-mail address: conor.ramsden.09@ucl.ac.uk (C.M. Ramsden).

pigment epithelium (RPE) [3]. Inherited retinopathies can affect the development of the light-sensitive photoreceptor cells of the retina, the function of retinal and RPE cells, or can result in the premature loss of these cells (Fig. 1). As the intrinsic regenerative capacity of the retina and RPE is limited, one potential therapy is cellular replacement [4].

Over the past decade, stem or progenitor cell transplantation as a means of replacing tissue has evolved rapidly, with the development of protocols to drive embryonic stem cells (ESCs) towards the fate of both photoreceptors or the RPE [6] [5–15] Despite this, regenerative therapy is only in the early stages of clinical trial and is currently being developed primarily for the more common retinal degenerations and each disease poses its own challenges. Therefore, in order to learn more about these wide ranging pathologies, there is a need to develop robust models to target therapies. Until recently in retinal biology, animals have been used primarily to model disease. While this has benefits in examining an organ in relation to an organism, there are major drawbacks in terms of increasing ethical objection to the use of animals in research and critical differences between human and animal species, for example the absence of a macular region in the common rodent animal models.



Fig. 1. A diagrammatic comparison of healthy (A) and diseased (B) retina highlighting the strong interdependence between photoreceptors and RPE. In the diseased retina, a decreased number of cones (C) and rods (R) is associated with RPE cell loss. This may lead to RPE detachment, where the RPE is lifted off the Bruch's membrane (BM) overlying the choroid. In addition, there is a reduction of phagosomes (Ph) in the RPE, as well as decreased phagocytosis of POS. In contrast, the neural circuits comprising bipolar cells (BP) and ganglion cells (G) remain comparatively unchanged. INL inner nuclear layer; ONL outer nuclear layer; GCL = ganglion cell layer. Adapted from Ramsden *et al.* [5].

In 2006, a major advance in stem cell technology produced a new means with which to investigate inherited diseases, such as retinopathies, in diseased patient cells in vitro. In a phenomenal series of experiments, Takahashi and Yamanaka identified the embryonic transcription factors that are required to turn an adult somatic cell into a pluripotent stem cell. The group was able to reprogram mouse [16] and subsequently human fibroblasts [17] into stem cells, termed induced pluripotent stem cells (IPSCs) using retroviral transduction with the four transcription factors OCT4, SOX2, KLF4 and c-MYC. Using this technology, fibroblast cells, which are readily accessible in the form of a skin biopsy, can be taken from sufferers of retinal diseases and converted into IPSCs. IPSC-derived eye cells will provide us with a new platform to investigate diseases in cell types, which have previously been inaccessible. In this article, we explore the current state of published outer retinal disease models using IPSCs and the technical difficulties encountered in their generation.

2. Technical Challenges for IPS Generation, Differentiation and Use

IPSCs can be generated from a wide array of sources including fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and T cells. The cell source can contribute to the epigenetic memory and serves as a challenge for IPSC research. Numerous studies have highlighted the varied growth and differentiation characteristics of IPSC lines. This is thought to be caused by a combination of genetic and epigenetic variation leading to subtle but significant differences in endogenous signalling. [18–21] Therefore, recent methods for deriving IPSCs from somatic cells may not always yield uniform lineage competencies between lines [40]. This necessitates optimization of IPSC-retinal cell differentiation protocols to suit each IPSC line. This fact, in combination with the long time scales and low efficiency of the majority of differentiation protocols makes for a long and expensive period of research and development before a reliable method for generating retinal cells from IPSCs can be established.

Patient IPSC-derived cells/tissues can then be used to span a range of applications from elucidating the mechanism of disease causing mutations to drug and gene therapy testing (Fig. 2). The experimental process requires that IPSC lines are also generated from healthy control individuals in order to measure differences in the mutation carrying patient cells [50]. An alternative strategy is to generate isogenic control cell lines where the mutation of interest is corrected in patient cells using gene editing technology. Control and test cell lines must then be differentiated simultaneously into the target cell. In order to make valid comparisons, it is ideal that the identity and maturity of the cells derived from both test and control cell lines are equal. Extensive studies of ESC lines has shown differences in their innate differentiation propensity [15,22]; thus it is likely that subjecting two cell lines to the same protocol could generate a different array of cell types. This could become problematic if retinal cells are identified and isolated from differentiated stem cell cultures based on the expression of markers that are also expressed in a range of neuronal cell types (e.g. Pax6, Chx10). Similarly, markers that are specific to a level of cell maturity are important. For example Recoverin is expressed early in human retinal development [23] and persists thereafter; therefore, using Recoverin expression as the *de facto* inclusion criteria for IPSC derived photoreceptors would include a range of cell types from developmentally immature progenitors to photoreceptors. If these potential pitfalls are not properly accounted for, incorrect conclusions about disease aetiology may be drawn.

The pure population of differentiated cells often has a limited proliferative capacity necessitating continued derivation from the original pluripotent IPSC bank [24]. IPSCs may incur mutations and chromosomal loss over time in culture as well as a secondary shortening of their telomere and reduced cell growth making the diligent maintenance of the cell bank crucial [26,27].

Thus far IPSCs have been used to generate several cell types that are implicated in retinal degenerative diseases, including RPE [28], retinal



Fig. 2. Application of patient specific IPSCs for disease modelling, drug discovery, gene therapy, small molecule screening and cell transplantation. Patient-specific IPSCs can be generated via genetic reprogramming of dermal fibroblasts or blood cells to pluripotency using retroviral transduction with the four transcription factors. This technology has emerged as a promising tool for identification of disease causing mutations, examining efficacy of new therapeutics, and as a cell source for autologous retinal cell replacement.

ganglion cells [29] and photoreceptors at various stages of maturity from progenitors [30] to opsin expressing, inner segment bearing, ciliated cells [31,32] reminiscent of developing photoreceptors at foetal week 12–15 of human development [23]. Three dimensional 'optic cups' containing multiple cell types (rod and cone progenitors, inter-neurons and ganglion cells) in a highly ordered structure have also been generated [31,32]. Despite these successes it is widely acknowledged that coaxing pluripotent cells to reliably and efficiently differentiate towards the desired retinal lineage is a considerable challenge.

Protocols for the generation of retinal cells from IPSCs employ either spontaneous or directed methods [33]. The former does not require the addition of small molecules or growth factors but simply the with-drawal of factors, which are required to maintain pluripotency from the cell maintenance media (*e.g.* basic fibroblast growth factor). While this technique has repeatedly proven to be a reliable and cost effective method for generating RPE, the production of neural retinal cell types requires a more directed procedure. Such methods commonly involve the agonism or antagonism of developmentally critical signalling pathways with small molecules or recombinant growth factors. Photoreceptor generating protocols are notoriously laborious, time consuming and highly dependent on the cell line used and epigenetic status, which can vary over time in culture [18,34,35]. As such stem cell-derived RPE is a much more easily producible, predictable and robust cell type in comparison to stem cell-derived photoreceptor-like cells.

Frequently the cell type of interest emerges alongside a myriad of contaminating cell types — being able to identify and isolate the cells of interest is critical to the success of these studies. The highly pigmented RPE can be easily identified visually and separated manually or by fluorescence activated cell sorting equipment (FACS). The isolated RPE cells

then have a degree of proliferative potential over a limited number of passages, making it possible to generate sufficient material for experiments. In contrast, non-pigmented neural retinal cells require more innovative methods for their visual identification; for example ESC lines have been developed with GFP tagged expression of early eye field marker proteins to allow easy identification and purification [12].

Additionally once the desired cell type has been generated, the disease model may be hampered by the relative immaturity of the cells generated. For example studies in human ESC derived RPE have found its transcriptome to more closely match human foetal RPE than adult cells [36,37]. Where degenerative retinal diseases with a late age of onset are of interest, it will be necessary to consider whether the IPSC derived cells are a model of a pre-symptomatic stage of the disease. Innovative methods to artificially age cells in culture are being developed to counter this problem in other disease models [38].

Finally, once the desired cell type has been generated in culture, the use of this cell as a disease model may be affected by its isolation as a single cell type. *In vivo* these cells would be exposed to exogenous stresses, from a neighbouring cell type, the immune or vascular system. Exposure to these types of stresses may be required to bring out the disease phenotype in cultured cells, which may limit the utility of the IPSC 'disease in a dish' paradigm.

3. Diseases Modeled

3.1. Retinitis Pigmentosa (RP)

Retinitis Pigmentosa is the most common form of inherited progressive retinal dystrophy that is both clinically and genetically heterogeneous. It is characterized by the progressive loss of rod photoreceptors then RPE cells. Symptoms include night blindness and progressive visual field loss, often leading to complete blindness. No definitive treatment has been established yet. RP can be inherited in autosomal dominant, autosomal recessive, X-linked, mitochondrial and genetically more complex modes [51,52]. Up to the present time, over 60 different genes have been associated with RP, which can occur in the retina alone or together with other syndromic disorders [53]. As a result of the genetic heterogeneity, the roles of these individual causative mutations have not been fully elucidated.

IPSC-derived retinal cells are an ideal *in vitro* model for disease discovery. In effect, they enable a better appreciation of the molecular and histological basis of diseases, including, RP, but also deliver a means of identifying possible therapeutic strategies [7,54]. For example, Jin et al. [54] obtained fibroblast cells from five RP patients with distinct mutations in the *RP1*, *RP9*, *PRPH2* or *RHO* gene, and generated patient-specific IPSCs that were then differentiated into photoreceptor-like cells, which expressed characteristic immunocytochemical markers and electrophysiological properties. They found that, as occurs in disease, the number of the patient-derived photoreceptor-like cells decreased more rapidly *in vitro* than those derived from control lines. Additionally, cells derived from patients with *RP9* or *RHO* mutations expressed markers for oxidative or endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress.

The study also looked at stem cell therapy as a useful tool for screening of drug responses in RP. The authors identified α -tocopherol as a potential therapeutic that could preserve RHO-positive cells in IPSC-derived retinal cultures carrying the *RP9* mutation. In effect, using IPSC-derived cells in drug screens may ultimately help to narrow the disease targets for experimental drugs, identify drugs for repurposing and facilitate clinical trial design. Using IPSC-derived cells as a novel platform for *in vitro* Phase 0 clinical trials would also provide important information about the efficacy and efficiency of potential therapies long before expensive clinical trials in patients. Drawbacks of this study include the use of limited photoreceptor markers and the small number of mutations analysed. In effect, the four mutations are not representative of this heterogeneous disease entity. In addition, the study does not take into account other factors that may have induced accelerated photoreceptor cell loss.

Similarly, Yoshida et al. [55] generated an IPSC line from the somatic cells of a patient with RP who carried a mutation in the RHO gene (E181K). This IPSC line was subsequently used to derive rod photoreceptor like cells with the same mutation. These cells were used to demonstrate that the mutation was indeed a pathogenic mutation and were used to explore the underlying molecular mechanisms and potential therapeutic approaches. With the use of an adenoviral vector gene transfer, the mutation was amended in the patients' IPSCs and the cells were then differentiated to photoreceptor-like cells. The study found a reduced survival rate in the photoreceptor cells with the E181K mutation, which was associated with a higher expression of ER stress and apoptotic markers. Furthermore, it was shown that numerous reagents (e.g. rapamycin, PP242, AICAR, NQDI-1 and salubrinal) promoted the survival of the patients' IPSC-derived photoreceptor-like cells, with a concurrent decrease in ER stress and apoptosis markers. This study is valuable as it draws attention to the use of IPSCs for review of disease pathophysiology, as well as for development of drug and gene therapeutics.

Furthermore, Tucker and colleagues [56] derived IPSCs from a patient with sporadic RP. Human IPSCs were used to confirm the pathogenicity of a homozygous Alu insertion into the causal gene *via* exome sequencing. In this study, the authors demonstrated that the insertion of the Alu sequence into exon 9 of the patient's *male germ cell-associated kinase (MAK)* gene blocked the generation of a splice variant of MAK, which is normally expressed only in retinal precursors. The abnormal splicing of MAK impeded normal photoreceptor development, leading to irreversible cell loss. In this study, IPSCs offered an effective means of recognizing the disease mechanism by enabling the *ex vivo* study of patient-specific retinal cells. Even though mutations in *MAK* only represent 1% of RP causes in the general population, they are quite common among individuals of Ashkenazi Jewish descent (reported in one third of cases) [57]. Nonetheless, the study acknowledges the drawbacks of using exome capture methods, especially when studying autosomal recessive diseases. In compound heterozygotes, both mutant alleles are not always recognized and other plausible disease causing heterozygous variants (*e.g.* ABCA4 and USH2A) cannot be discounted.

Schwarz et al. [58] generated IPSC derived RPE from patients with RP carrying a premature stop mutation in the *RP2* gene. RP2 protein was undetectable in the patient cells, implying that the mechanism underlying disease progression is caused by complete lack of RP2 protein. Using translational read-through inducing drugs, Schwarz et al. [58] were able to reinstate up to 20% of endogenous, full-length RP2 protein in cells carrying the mutation. This subsequently allowed the reversal of cellular phenotypic defects seen in both the affected patient fibroblasts and IPSC–RPE cells. The study successfully restored RP2 function, therefore adding to therapeutic options for a wide range of diseases caused by mutations that introduce premature stop codon into the coding sequence. However, the study only focuses on one specific mutation, therefore making it difficult to project or extrapolate results.

Li and colleagues [59] successfully used human IPSC–RPE cells as a recipient for gene therapy to replace Membrane Frizzled-Related Protein (MFRP); a gene implicated in RP that is expressed in the RPE and is thought to control actin organization with the help of CTRP5. Adeno-associated virus (AAV) 8-mediated delivery of MFRP into IPSC-derived RPE from a patient with MFRP-associated RP appeared to successfully restore actin organization observed in control cells. This gene therapy approach also showed encouraging results in mouse models. Overall, the study highlights that the successful restoration of MFRP in diseased IPSC–RPE may be a good indicator for this therapeutic approach in subsequent clinical trials. However, the study only focuses on one mutation, therefore making it difficult to extrapolate results and limitations of AAV include vector production and the limited transgene capacity of the particles [60].

3.2. Usher Syndrome (USH)

Usher syndrome is an autosomal recessive hereditary disorder characterized by RP and congenital sensorineural hearing loss, with a varying age of onset and extent of vestibular dysfunction. A number of causative genes have been identified including the USH2A gene that is expressed in the photoreceptor. Zahabi et al. [61] confirmed that several retinal-disease specific IPSC lines (including USH) can be differentiated into RPE cells, although it must be stressed that Usher's syndrome is primarily a disease of photoreceptors not RPE and so limited conclusions related to USH could be drawn from these cell lines. Tucker et al. [62] performed exome sequencing on a patient with RP and identified a probable causative mutation in USH2A. Sanger sequencing of the USH2A gene introns revealed a second mutation in intron 40. In order to further interrogate the pathophysiology, they reprogrammed the keratinocytes of the patient into IPSCs and then used directdifferentiation protocols to produce bilayered optic vesicle-like structures, comprising RPE and primitive photoreceptor like cells. cDNA analysis confirmed that the mutation in intron 40 caused expression of this intronic region, a frameshift and premature stop codon. Scrutiny of the protein expression pointed towards misfolding and potential endoplasmic reticulum stress.

3.3. Leber Congenital Amaurosis (LCA)

Leber congenital amaurosis is a rare degenerative inherited eye disease that can lead to severe visual impairment before the age of one [68]. It is thought to be caused by abnormal development of photoreceptor cells, or by the premature degeneration of retinal cells [68]. It is characterized by nystagmus, sluggish or no pupillary responses and poor vision [69]. Mutations in 18 different genes have been reported to cause LCA, which is an autosomal recessive disease. A third of patients carry mutations in *CEP290*, a gene which normally produces a cilium-associated protein that is involved in photoreceptor outer segment (POS) trafficking and ciliogenesis [70–73]. Treatment options remain limited [74], despite the emergence of therapeutic gene replacement [65,66,75–80].

Understanding the pathophysiology and mutation-specific disease severity in LCA patients is key to refining treatment and improving outcomes. A study by Burnight et al. [66] demonstrated a ciliogenesis defect in CEP290-associated LCA patient fibroblast cells. They showed that lentiviral delivery of CEP290 to patient fibroblasts increased the proportion of ciliated cells and the length of cilia in two out of three patient fibroblast lines compared to untransfected controls. This study was also able to demonstrate that the range of CEP290 therapeutic dosage was limited; with higher doses of wild-type CEP290 becoming toxic to fibroblasts cells in culture. Patient-specific IPSCs were then generated and differentiated into cells that were immunoreactive for Otx2 (expressed in almost all regions of the developing human brain) and cone opsin although no photoreceptor morphology primitive or otherwise was demonstrated. These cells were successfully transfected with a lentiviral vectors containing full length CEP290 and the authors demonstrated expression of the full-length transcript and presence of the protein by western blot in patient derived photoreceptor precursor cells. However, the authors did not demonstrate a ciliogenesis defect in the photoreceptor precursor cells following transfection with full length CEP290, citing difficulties in identifying cilia in differentiated structures.

Several studies were able to review pathologic formation of human retinal cells in vitro, thereby facilitating disease modelling and drug screening. As mentioned previously, Zahabi et al. [61] generated IPSC lines from a number of patients with retinal dystrophies including LCA. A directed differentiation protocol produced cells that were pigmented and appear to be immunopositive for some RPE specific markers including MitF and RPE65. Lustremant et al. [81] used LCA patient-derived IPSCs to carry out differential transcriptome analysis in order to find genes of interest likely to be causative in the affected cell types. IPSC lines were derived from two patients with LCA carrying undetermined mutations. The IPSCs were differentiated into RPE and towards neural stem cells akin to the neural tube stage of development (not yet restricted to the eye field lineage); cell types that may be affected by the disease. Comparison of diseased cells to healthy controls identified 4 candidate genes that were differentially expressed in LCDderived cells and could correlate with disease mechanisms associated with protein degradation and oxidative stress in this patient: tripartite *motif containing* 61 (TRIM61) gene, the *zinc finger protein* 558 (ZNF558) gene, glutathione S-transferase theta 1 (GSTT1) and neuronatin (NNAT).

3.4. Gyrate Atrophy (GA)

Gyrate atrophy is a progressive autosomal recessive disorder that starts in childhood and induces diffuse atrophy of the choroid, RPE and sensory retina. In GA, stem cell-based disease models are useful for pharmacological screening and the evaluation of new therapeutics.

Meyer et al. [7] reported the reinstatement of ornithine aminotransferase (OAT) enzyme activity in GA IPSC-derived RPE after vitamin B6 therapy. B6 supplementation is a recognized treatment for a subset of GA patients. However, the patient in question was not predicted to benefit from B6 using data derived from testing B6 effect on the OAT enzyme in fibroblasts. This highlights how important tissue specific drug testing is and showcases how powerful IPSC technology can be in non-regenerating tissues.

3.5. Juvenile Neuronal Ceroid Lipofuscinosis (NCL)

Juvenile NCL, also known as Batten disease is a group of severe neurodegenerative diseases characterized by intracellular accumulation of autofluorescent wax-like lipid pigments (ceroid-lipofuscin) in neurons. There are several subtypes based on mutations of the various genes, disease onset, and severity of the neurological defects such as progressive dementia, seizures and visual failure. The latter is normally central in nature, due to degeneration of cones in the macula. Disease progression is very aggressive and patients often die during their second or third decade. It is inherited as an autosomal recessive genetic disorder and often caused by a genomic DNA deletion in the gene, *ceroid lipofuscinosis* 3 (*CLN3*) [82]. There is currently no cure for this disorder and the molecular mechanisms have not been fully elucidated [83].

Stem cell technology is a powerful tool for analysing the pathophysiology and for enhancing drug screening. A recent study by Lojewski et al. [84] generated IPSC lines from patient with both late infantile NCL (*CLN2* mutation) and juvenile NCL (*CLN3* mutation). Patient IPSCs were differentiated into neuronal (not retinal) tissue. Abnormalities in endosomal-lysosomal system were detectable in the patient IPSC, but disease-subtype specific lysosomal storage was only evident in their differentiated neuronal derivatives. This clearly shows the necessity of IPSCs and IPSC differentiation technology to effectively model these diseases.

The abnormalities could be corrected in patient cells by using adenovirus vector to overexpress wild type protein encoded by the *CLN2* or *CLN3* gene, confirming previous outcomes in animal models [85] and lending support to AAV mediated gene therapy currently in clinical testing (www.clinicaltrials.gov, NCT01161576). These IPSC-derived neural progenitor cells were also used to screen potential pharmacological modulators of the CLN2 encoded protein, demonstrating the use of patient-derived IPSCs as a platform for testing new therapeutic candidates.

3.6. Best Vitelliform Macular Dystrophy (BVMD)

Best vitelliform macular dystrophy is an autosomal dominant hereditary maculopathy with childhood-onset accumulation of liposfuscin in RPE. Affected individuals develop progressive central acuity loss, and metamorphopsia, due to mutations in bestrophin, a chloride channel [86]. There are different stages in the disease process including choroidal neovascular membranes due to vitelliform lesions and geographic atrophy in later stages [87,88].

Singh et al. [89] used human IPSCs to generate RPE from BVMD patients and unaffected siblings in order to study the cellular and molecular processes underlying this disease. Several differences were observed between BVMD and normal sibling IPSC–RPE. The authors noted that IPSC–RPE from patients had disrupted fluid flux, a build-up of autofluorescent material and oxidative stress, a delay in rhodopsin degradation and differences in stimulated calcium responses following POS feeding. This study thus suggests a role for intracellular calcium regulation and oxidative stress in the disease mechanism. These important and RPE-specific functional differences would have been impossible to determine without access to actual patient RPE cells or the use of patient-derived IPSC–RPE.

3.7. Age Related Macular Degeration (AMD)

AMD is a complex disease that can be subdivided into a "dry" and "wet" type. It involves loss of the RPE/photoreceptor layers, thinning of the outer plexiform layer, thickening of Bruch's membrane and atrophy of the choriocapillaris. In dry AMD, there is an accumulation of lipid-like deposits (drusen) between the RPE and Bruch's membrane, occurring typically in individuals over 50. Geographic atrophy is more prominent in later stages, leading to photoreceptor cell loss. In wet AMD, the choroidal vasculature can grow in the subretinal space, termed "choroidal neovascularisation." In view of the pathophysiology, cell replacement therapy for retinal cell loss is very appealing, with several clinical trials underway. C. Yvon et al. / Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 13 (2015) 382-389

Table 1

Summary of disease causing mutations that have been identified and examined using IPSCs, and whether these disease models have led to drug discovery, gene introduction and discovery.

Disease	Gene	Mutation	Drug discovery	Gene introduction	Gene discovery	Reference
RP	RP2	R120X	V			[58]
	RHO	G188R				[54]
	RHO	E181K	V	v		[55]
	RP9	H137L	~			[54]
	RP1	721Lfs722X				[54]
	RDS/PRPH2	W316G				[54]
	MFRP			V		[59]
Sporadic RP	MAK				~	[56]
Usher	USH2A				~	[62]
LCA	GUCY2D				V	[81]
	CEP290		~	V		[66]
Gyrate atrophy	OAT	A226V	<i>v</i>	V		[7]
Best	BEST1	A146K, N296H				[89]
Juvenile NCL	CLN2		v	V		[84]
AMD			 ✓ 			[90]

Generating a disease model for AMD may be useful in understanding its pathogenesis and in the development of effective therapeutic strategies. AMD has a strong genetic characteristic with over 50 different loci identified so far. These include two on chromosomes 1 and 10 leading to a high-risk haplotype. The mutation associated with chromosome 1 affects the *complement factor H* gene and subsequently the complement cascade. However, the mechanism by which the chromosome 10g locus leads to increased AMD risk remains unknown. Yang et al. [90] used an unbiased proteome screen of patient specific IPSC-derived RPE cells from patients with a high and low risk haplotype of 10q loci. By artificially aging the cells with A2E (one of the lipofuscin fluorophores that accumulate in RPE cells with age), they noted a reduced superoxide dismutase 2-mediated antioxidant defence in the high-risk haplotype. This reduced protective response to A2E may cause increased levels of oxidative stress in the RPE of affected patients. The study highlights several underlying pathogenic mechanisms, opening the doors to potential treatment options. Chang et al. [91] generated IPSCs from T cells of patients with dry AMD using integration free episomal vectors and differentiated these cells into RPE using a directed differentiation method. The AMD patient-derived RPE cells were found to have reduced antioxidant capability compared with control cells. The group then used the IPSC-derived RPE to screen a panel of dietary supplements that have previously been shown to have potential retinal protective or antioxidant capabilities. Of these compounds, treatment with 10 µm curcumin was shown to have a significant effect on cell viability. Pre-treatment with curcumin protected these AMD-related RPE cells from H₂O₂induced cell apoptosis and upregulated the expression of several oxidative stress-regulating genes. Although the systemic effects of such treatments must still be evaluated in suitable animal models, this study demonstrates the potential of IPSC-derived cells to screen for the activity of therapeutic candidates in the desired target cell type early in the drug development process.

4. Conclusion

Stem cell technology is coming of age as a tool to model retinal degeneration; IPSCs have already been used to recapitulate normal versus abnormal retinal cell behaviour *in vitro* and to gain new mechanistic insights into disease aetiology. Patient specific IPSCs may be used in pharmaceutical screening and in the elucidation of new treatment options for retinal diseases (Table 1). The potential benefits in terms of reducing the attrition rate for drug candidates in early-stage clinical trials and decreasing the requirement for animal models are an obvious attraction. Many emerging developments in the field of stem cell technology offer an exceptional opportunity to treat inherited retinal degenerative diseases and finally improve patients' lives. However, there exist some obstacles with the use of IPSCs, which need to be overcome before clinical application.

Funding

This work was supported by funding from The London Project to Cure Blindness; the Medical Research Council (MRC) UK (G1000730); the California Institute of Regenerative Medicine (CIRM) (G1000730); Fight for Sight UK (1755); The Lincy Foundation (P12761); the Macular Society; and the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) (BRC2_011) Biomedical Research Centre based at Moorfields Eye Hospital National Health Service (NHS) Foundation Trust and University College London Institute of Ophthalmology. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health.

Competing Interest Statement

The authors declare no competing financial interests.

References

- Liew G, Michaelides M, Bunce C. A comparison of the causes of blindness certifications in England and Wales in working age adults (16–64 years), 1999–2000 with 2009–2010. BMJ Open 2014;4:e004015.
- [2] de Jong PT. Age-related macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 2006;355:1474–85.
- [3] Strauss O. The retinal pigment epithelium in visual function. Physiol Rev 2005;85: 845–81.
- [4] Ramsden CM, Powner MB, Carr AJ, Smart MJ, da Cruz L, et al. Stem cells in retinal regeneration: past, present and future. Development 2013;140:2576–85.
- [5] Ramsden CM, Powner MB, Carr AJ, Smart MJ, da Cruz L, et al. Neural retinal regeneration with pluripotent stem cells. Dev Ophthalmol 2014;53:97–110.
- [6] Carr AJ, Smart MJ, Ramsden CM, Powner MB, da Cruz L, et al. Development of human embryonic stem cell therapies for age-related macular degeneration. Trends Neurosci 2013;36:385–95.
- [7] Meyer JS, Howden SE, Wallace KA, Verhoeven AD, Wright LS, et al. Optic vesicle-like structures derived from human pluripotent stem cells facilitate a customized approach to retinal disease treatment. Stem Cells 2011;29:1206–18.
- [8] Meyer JS, Shearer RL, Capowski EE, Wright LS, Wallace KA, et al. Modeling early retinal development with human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:16698–703.
- [9] Klimanskaya I, Hipp J, Rezai KA, West M, Atala A, et al. Derivation and comparative assessment of retinal pigment epithelium from human embryonic stem cells using transcriptomics. Cloning Stem Cells 2004;6:217–45.
- [10] Lund RD, Wang S, Klimanskaya I, Holmes T, Ramos-Kelsey R, et al. Human embryonic stem cell-derived cells rescue visual function in dystrophic RCS rats. Cloning Stem Cells 2006;8:189–99.
- [11] Vugler A, Carr AJ, Lawrence J, Chen LL, Burrell K, et al. Elucidating the phenomenon of HESC-derived RPE: anatomy of cell genesis, expansion and retinal transplantation. Exp Neurol 2008;214:347–61.
- [12] Nakano T, Ando S, Takata N, Kawada M, Muguruma K, et al. Self-formation of optic cups and storable stratified neural retina from human ESCs. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10:771–85.
- [13] Idelson M, Alper R, Obolensky A, Ben-Shushan E, Hemo I, et al. Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into functional retinal pigment epithelium cells. Cell Stem Cell 2009;5:396–408.

- [14] Ikeda H, Osakada F, Watanabe K, Mizuseki K, Haraguchi T, et al. Generation of Rx +/ Pax6 + neural retinal precursors from embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:11331–6.
- [15] Lane A, Philip LR, Ruban L, Fynes K, Smart M, et al. Engineering efficient retinal pigment epithelium differentiation from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Transl Med 2014;3:1295–304.
- [16] Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 2006;126:663–76.
- [17] Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 2007;131: 861–72.
- [18] Nishino K, Toyoda M, Yamazaki-Inoue M, Fukawatase Y, Chikazawa E, et al. DNA methylation dynamics in human induced pluripotent stem cells over time. PLoS Genet 2011;7:e1002085.
- [19] Hussein SM, Batada NN, Vuoristo S, Ching RW, Autio R, et al. Copy number variation and selection during reprogramming to pluripotency. Nature 2011;471: 58–62.
- [20] Abyzov A, Mariani J, Palejev D, Zhang Y, Haney MS, et al. Somatic copy number mosaicism in human skin revealed by induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 2012;492: 438–42.
- [21] Liang G, Zhang Y. Genetic and epigenetic variations in iPSCs: potential causes and implications for application. Cell Stem Cell 2013;13:149–59.
- [22] Osafune K, Caron L, Borowiak M, Martinez RJ, Fitz-Gerald CS, et al. Marked differences in differentiation propensity among human embryonic stem cell lines. Nat Biotechnol 2008;26:313–5.
- [23] Hendrickson A, Bumsted-O'Brien K, Natoli R, Ramamurthy V, Possin D, et al. Rod photoreceptor differentiation in fetal and infant human retina. Exp Eye Res 2008; 87:415–26.
- [24] Singh R, Phillips MJ, Kuai D, Meyer J, Martin JM, et al. Functional analysis of serially expanded human iPS cell-derived RPE cultures. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2013;54: 6767–78.
- [26] Chen KG, Mallon BS, McKay RD, Robey PG. Human pluripotent stem cell culture: considerations for maintenance, expansion, and therapeutics. Cell Stem Cell 2014; 14:13–26.
- [27] Terai M, Izumiyama-Shimomura N, Aida J, Ishikawa N, Kuroiwa M, et al. Investigation of telomere length dynamics in induced pluripotent stem cells using quantitative fluorescence in situ hybridization. Tissue Cell 2013;45:407–13.
- [28] Carr AJ, Vugler AA, Hikita ST, Lawrence JM, Gias C, et al. Protective effects of human iPS-derived retinal pigment epithelium cell transplantation in the retinal dystrophic rat. PLoS One 2009;4:e8152.
- [29] Tanaka T, Yokoi T, Tamalu F, Watanabe S, Nishina S, et al. Generation of retinal ganglion cells with functional axons from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Sci Rep 2015;5:8344.
- [30] Hirami Y, Osakada F, Takahashi K, Okita K, Yamanaka S, et al. Generation of retinal cells from mouse and human induced pluripotent stem cells. Neurosci Lett 2009; 458:126–31.
- [31] Phillips MJ, Wallace KA, Dickerson SJ, Miller MJ, Verhoeven AD, et al. Bloodderived human iPS cells generate optic vesicle-like structures with the capacity to form retinal laminae and develop synapses. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2012; 53:2007–19.
- [32] Zhong X, Gutierrez C, Xue T, Hampton C, Vergara MN, et al. Generation of threedimensional retinal tissue with functional photoreceptors from human iPSCs. Nat Commun 2014;5:4047.
- [33] Rowland TJ, Buchholz DE, Clegg DO. Pluripotent human stem cells for the treatment of retinal disease. J Cell Physiol 2012;227:457–66.
- [34] Enver T, Soneji S, Joshi C, Brown J, Iborra F, et al. Cellular differentiation hierarchies in normal and culture-adapted human embryonic stem cells. Hum Mol Genet 2005; 14:3129–40.
- [35] Baker DE, Harrison NJ, Maltby E, Smith K, Moore HD, et al. Adaptation to culture of human embryonic stem cells and oncogenesis in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 2007;25: 207–15.
- [36] Liao JL, Yu J, Huang K, Hu J, Diemer T, et al. Molecular signature of primary retinal pigment epithelium and stem-cell-derived RPE cells. Hum Mol Genet 2010;19: 4229–38.
- [37] Lu B, Malcuit C, Wang S, Girman S, Francis P, et al. Long-term safety and function of RPE from human embryonic stem cells in preclinical models of macular degeneration. Stem Cells 2009;27:2126–35.
- [38] Miller JD, Ganat YM, Kishinevsky S, Bowman RL, Liu B, et al. Human iPSC-based modeling of late-onset disease via progerin-induced aging. Cell Stem Cell 2013;13: 691–705.
- [40] Hu BY, Weick JP, Yu J, Ma LX, Zhang XQ, et al. Neural differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells follows developmental principles but with variable potency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:4335–40.
- [50] Santostefano KE, Hamazaki T, Biel NM, Jin S, Umezawa A, et al. A practical guide to induced pluripotent stem cell research using patient samples. Lab Invest 2015;95: 4–13.
- [51] Hims MM, Diager SP, Inglehearn CF. Retinitis pigmentosa: genes, proteins and prospects. Dev Ophthalmol 2003;37:109–25.
- [52] Rivolta C, Sharon D, DeAngelis MM, Dryja TP. Retinitis pigmentosa and allied diseases: numerous diseases, genes, and inheritance patterns. Hum Mol Genet 2002; 11:1219–27.
- [53] Petrs-Silva H, Linden R. Advances in gene therapy technologies to treat retinitis pigmentosa. Clin Ophthalmol 2014;8:127–36.
- [54] Jin ZB, Okamoto S, Osakada F, Homma K, Assawachananont J, et al. Modeling retinal degeneration using patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 2011; 6:e17084.

- [55] Yoshida T, Ozawa Y, Suzuki K, Yuki K, Ohyama M, et al. The use of induced pluripotent stem cells to reveal pathogenic gene mutations and explore treatments for retinitis pigmentosa. Mol Brain 2014;7:45.
- [56] Tucker BA, Scheetz TE, Mullins RF, DeLuca AP, Hoffmann JM, et al. Exome sequencing and analysis of induced pluripotent stem cells identify the cilia-related gene male germ cell-associated kinase (MAK) as a cause of retinitis pigmentosa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:E569–76.
- [57] Stone EM, Luo X, Heon E, Lam BL, Weleber RG, et al. Autosomal recessive retinitis pigmentosa caused by mutations in the MAK gene. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011; 52:9665–73.
- [58] Schwarz N, Carr AJ, Lane A, Moeller F, Chen LL, et al. Translational read-through of the RP2 Arg120stop mutation in patient iPSC-derived retinal pigment epithelium cells. Hum Mol Genet 2015 Feb 15;24(4):972–86.
- [59] Li Y, Wu WH, Hsu CW, Nguyen HV, Tsai YT, et al. Gene therapy in patient-specific stem cell lines and a preclinical model of retinitis pigmentosa with membrane frizzled-related protein defects. Mol Ther 2014;22:1688–97.
- [60] Nayerossadat N, Maedeh T, Ali PA. Viral and nonviral delivery systems for gene delivery. Adv Biomed Res 2012;1:27.
- [61] Zahabi A, Shahbazi E, Ahmadieh H, Hassani SN, Totonchi M, et al. A new efficient protocol for directed differentiation of retinal pigmented epithelial cells from normal and retinal disease induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 2012;21: 2262–72.
- [62] Tucker BA, Mullins RF, Streb LM, Anfinson K, Eyestone ME, et al. Patient-specific iPSC-derived photoreceptor precursor cells as a means to investigate retinitis pigmentosa. Elife 2013;2:e00824.
- [65] Maguire AM, Simonelli F, Pierce EA, Pugh Jr EN, Mingozzi F, et al. Safety and efficacy of gene transfer for Leber's congenital amaurosis. N Engl J Med 2008;358:2240–8.
- [66] Burnight ER, Wiley LA, Drack AV, Braun TA, Anfinson KR, et al. CEP290 gene transfer rescues Leber congenital amaurosis cellular phenotype. Gene Ther 2014;21:662–72.
- [68] den Hollander AI, Roepman R, Koenekoop RK, Cremers FP. Leber congenital amaurosis: genes, proteins and disease mechanisms. Prog Retin Eye Res 2008;27:391–419.
- [69] Coppieters F, Lefever S, Leroy BP, De Baere E. CEP290, a gene with many faces: mutation overview and presentation of CEP290base. Hum Mutat 2010;31:1097–108.
- [70] Craige B, Tsao CC, Diener DR, Hou Y, Lechtreck KF, et al. CEP290 tethers flagellar transition zone microtubules to the membrane and regulates flagellar protein content. J Cell Biol 2010;190:927–40.
- [71] Drivas TG, Holzbaur ELF, Bennett J. Disruption of CEP290 microtubule/membranebinding domains causes retinal degeneration. J Clin Invest 2013;123:4525–39.
- [72] McEwen DP, Koenekoop RK, Khanna H, Jenkins PM, Lopez I, et al. Hypomorphic CEP290/NPHP6 mutations result in anosmia caused by the selective loss of G proteins in cilia of olfactory sensory neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:15917–22.
- [73] Tsang WY, Bossard C, Khanna H, Peränen J, Swaroop A, et al. CP110 Suppresses Primary Cilia Formation through Its Interaction with CEP290, a Protein Deficient in Human Ciliary Disease. Dev Cell 2008;15:187–97.
- [74] Baehr W, Frederick JM. Naturally occurring animal models with outer retina phenotypes. Vision Res 2009;49:2636–52.
- [75] Acland GM, Aguirre GD, Ray J, Zhang Q, Aleman TS, et al. Gene therapy restores vision in a canine model of childhood blindness. Nat Genet 2001;28:92–5.
- [76] Bainbridge JW, Smith AJ, Barker SS, Robbie S, Henderson R, et al. Effect of gene therapy on visual function in Leber's congenital amaurosis. N Engl J Med 2008;358: 2231–9.
- [77] Cideciyan AV, Aleman TS, Boye SL, Schwartz SB, Kaushal S, et al. Human gene therapy for RPE65 isomerase deficiency activates the retinoid cycle of vision but with slow rod kinetics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:15112–7.
- [78] Hauswirth WW, Aleman TS, Kaushal S, Cideciyan AV, Schwartz SB, et al. Treatment of leber congenital amaurosis due to RPE65 mutations by ocular subretinal injection of adeno-associated virus gene vector: short-term results of a phase I trial. Hum Gene Ther 2008;19:979–90.
- [79] Simonelli F, Maguire AM, Testa F, Pierce EA, Mingozzi F, et al. Gene therapy for Leber's congenital amaurosis is safe and effective through 1.5 years after vector administration. Mol Ther 2010;18:643–50.
- [80] Stieger K, Cronin T, Bennett J, Rolling F. Adeno-associated virus mediated gene therapy for retinal degenerative diseases. Methods Mol Biol 2011;807:179–218.
- [81] Lustremant C, Habeler W, Plancheron A, Goureau O, Grenot L, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cells as a tool to model a form of Leber congenital amaurosis. Cell Reprogram 2013;15:233–46.
- [82] de los Reyes E, Dyken PR, Phillips P, Brodsky M, Bates S, et al. Profound infantile neuroretinal dysfunction in a heterozygote for the CLN3 genetic defect. J Child Neurol 2004;19:42–6.
- [83] Seehafer SS, Ramirez-Montealegre D, Wong AMS, Chan C-H, Castaneda J, et al. Immunosuppression alters disease severity in juvenile Batten disease mice. Neuroimmunol 2010;230:169–72.
- [84] Lojewski X, Staropoli JF, Biswas-Legrand S, Simas AM, Haliw L, et al. Human iPSC models of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis capture distinct effects of TPP1 and CLN3 mutations on the endocytic pathway. Hum Mol Genet 2014;23:2005–22.
- [85] Katz ML, Shibuya H, Liu P-C, Kaur S, Gao C-L, et al. A mouse gene knockout model for juvenile ceroid-lipofuscinosis (Batten disease). J Neurosci Res 1999;57:551–6.
- [86] Petrukhin K, Koisti MJ, Bakall B, Li W, Xie G, et al. Identification of the gene responsible for Best macular dystrophy. Nat Genet 1998;19:241–7.
- [87] Kay CN, Abramoff MD, Mullins RF, Kinnick TR, Lee K, et al. Three-dimensional distribution of the vitelliform lesion, photoreceptors, and retinal pigment epithelium in the macula of patients with Best vitelliform macular dystrophy. Arch Ophthalmol 2012;130:357–64.
- [88] Mullins RF, Kuehn MH, Faidley EA, Syed NA, Stone EM. Differential macular and peripheral expression of bestrophin in human eyes and its implication for Best disease. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007;48:3372–80.

- [89] Singh R, Shen W, Kuai D, Martin JM, Guo X, et al. iPS cell modeling of Best disease: insights into the pathophysiology of an inherited macular degeneration. Hum Mol Genet 2013;22:593–607.
- [90] Yang J, Li Y, Chan L, Tsai YT, Wu WH, et al. Validation of genome-wide association study (GWAS)-identified disease risk alleles with patient-specific stem cell lines. Hum Mol Genet 2014;23:3445–55.
- [91] Chang YC, Chang WC, Hung KH, Yang DM, Cheng YH, et al. The generation of induced pluripotent stem cells for macular degeneration as a drug screening platform: identification of curcumin as a protective agent for retinal pigment epithelial cells against oxidative stress. Front Aging Neurosci 2014;6:191.